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From: 

Sent: 

To: 

Debbie Harl,ness on behalf of Alastair Maclean 

24 Novembe.r 2010 11 :03 

1·om Aitchison; Jim Inch; Donald McGougan 

Subject: Legal Strategy - Trams - Strictly Private & Confidential, legally privileged and prepared in anticipation 
of lltigation 

Importance: High 

Sensitivity: Confidential 

Attachments: ADM Strat Report.doc 

Further to this morning's IPG 1neeting, I attach a note summarising the views of our independent QC in relation to our 
proposed legal strategy. 
Debbie wili give your PAs the password. 
Regards 
Alastair 
,,· 
~' bie Harkness I ExecL1live Business Assistant I The City of Edinburgh Council I Corporate Services I Legal & Administrative Services I Waverley 
Court Business Centre 3:1, 4 East Market Street, Edinburgh EH8 8BG I Tel I Fax 0131 529 36031 qebbie.l1arkness@edinburgh.gov.uk 
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L~g;tlly p1·ivileg~9 a11d p1·~P.l!red in .f'.:i;ttici1>atio11 of.litigation 

1. Purpose 

1.1 The pu1·pose of this note is to set out iJ.1 ve1·y clea1·, briefte1·1ns: 

2. 

2.1 

2.2 

2.3 

l. 1.1 the p1·esent app1·oach being pu1·sued by tie; 

1.1.2 the view expressed by CEC's independent QC., Nicholas Dennys (tl1e 
''QC'') on tl1at app1·oach; and 

1.1.3 tl1e QC's view on the p1·efe1·red a1)p1·oach as to the way fo1·wru·d. 

Background 

tie have bee11 conside1·ing va1·ious options: 

2.1.1 status quo; 

2.1.2 matu1·e divorce; 

2.1.3 te1mination; 

2.1.4 enforcing pe1·fo1·mance of the cont1·act; 

2. 1.5 meeting with Infraco; and 

2.1.6 mediation. 

Most 1·ecently tie have been exploring: 

2.2.1 termination following service of various re1nediable te11nit1ation 
notices (''RTNs''); and 

2.2.2 1nediation following an e1ne1·gency 1notion passed by CEC on 16 
Nove1nbe1· 2010. 

In orde1· to avoid the unquantifiable 1·isks arising :fi:01n w1·ongful termination 
of the cont1·act, tie's latest legal advice is to test the validity of the RTNs 
served to date by tneans of the dispute resolution p1·ocedu1·e it1 the Infraco 
contract. 

2.4 tie have been taking advice initially fi·om DLA and 1no1·e 1·ecently fi·o1n 
McGrigors and Richard I(ee11 QC. That advice has helped info1·m their 
strategy. 

2.5 To date CEC has been content. to allow tie to investigate the factual position 
and take the lead on st1·ategy. Under the operating agi·eement tie/TEL 
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3 .1 

1·cquh·es tl1e app1·oval of CEC fo1· ce1tait1 111ate1·ial a.ctions, i11cludi11g 
te1-:t11lllation of the I11:fi:aco cont1·act. We we1·e 1J1·eviously led by tie to expect 
that TEL/tie would co111e fo1·wa1·ct to the Dece111be1· Cou11cil 111eeting witl1 a 
1·equest fo1· conse11t to te1·1ninate, 

St1·ategy - the QC's view on tie's p1·esent app1·oach 

Credibility Iss11es 

The1·e is a 1·eal conce1·11 as to the laclc of c1·edibility in the eyes of tl1e In:fraco 
• 

(and indeed of stakeholde1·s) due to: 

3 .1.1 the conti11ual sl1ift in dit·ection and appru·e11t laclc of a cohe1·ent 
st1·ategy for tl1e way fo1·wa1·d with the p1·oject; 

3.1.2 vague/badly fo1·mulated RTNs which have been 1net with appru·ent 
de1·ision by the conso1·tiu1n; and 

3 .1.3 the new and p1·ecipitate atte1npt to 1nove to a fu1ihe1· 1neans of dispute 
1·esolutio11 by way of mediation. 

3.2 Ter.mination 

Whilst t11e possibility that tie does have gi·ounds fo1· te1-inination cannot be 
ruled out at this stage and whilst that 11eeds to be investigated further by 
McG1·igors, there a1·e significant concerns that: 

3.2.1 the P1·inces St1·eet RTN is back in tie's court and has not been 
1·espo11ded to; 

3.2.2 the 1·e111aining RTNs are too vague and unspecific to enable 
tennination (even if supported by the facts); 

3.2.3 at present, CEC does not have the full factual pictu1·e; and 

3.2.4 tl1e tnanner of prosecuting any alleged Infi·aco default l1as been 
ineffectual. 

To put tl1is 11101·e clea1·ly, te1mination on the. basis of the p1·esent RTNs is not 
advisable. Howeve1· on any view, given p1·og1·ess to date by the conso1·tiu1n 
on the delive1·y of the works, it would appear p1·obable that if p1·ope1·ly 
it1vestigated and fo1·mulated, valid grounds of breach could be a1·ticulated 
effectively in due cou1·se. 
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3.3 Mediation 

3 .3 .1 If 1J1·01Jc1·ly 1·un, 1nediation shoulcl be fully 1J1·epa1·ed fo1· on tl1e basis of 
full factual info1·1natio11 a11d with a lcnown st1·ategy, 011ce CEC/tie is 
011 a substantially su1·e1· footing. 

3.3.2 That IJt·ocess will take 1nontl1s and whilst tl1e1·e is a political 
i111pe1·ative it should be slowed down to enable a clea1·e1·, 1no1·e 
incisive st1·ategy to be put into effect. 

3.3.3 Mediation at tl1is stage is legally prematu1·e and 111ay lead pa1·ties to a 
fu1·the1· ent1·encl1ed position. 

3.4 Meeting with Infraco 

3.5 

Whilst this was chosen to neut1·alise possible judicial 1·eview in 1·elation to 
te1mination, it 1nakes sense fo1· the CEC 1neeting to p1·oceed in orde1· to elicit 
fu1·the1· it1fo1·1nation and to asce1·tain what Bilfinger Be1·ge1· (Ge11nany) in 
pa1·ticula1· wol1ld lilce to discuss. 

Factual positio11 at time of contract entry 

There should be a full investigation it1to the co1nmunications between the 
parties leading up to the cont1·act being entered into, ill 01·der to ascertain the 
full factual mat1·ix and assess whether there are ru1y othe1· 1natters that may 
assist in relation to the present contractual difficulties. 

3.6 Infraco position 

4. 

3. 6.1 It is lilcely that Bilfmge1· Be1·ge1· do not fea1· terminatio11 as presently 
p1·oposed by tie and, indeed, CEC/tie co11ld well be playing into their 
hands by te1·1ninating the cont1·act. 

3.6.2 Sie1nens are likely to take a sho1ie1· te1·m view, wanting a retutn on 
tl1eir investment. 

3.6.3 CAF are likely (notwithstanding joint and several liability) si1nply to 
be thinlcing of supplying the t1·run vehicles. 

CEC's proposed strategy-the way forward 

4.1 Given the 11u1nber of competit1g variables it helps to analyse what it is 
tl1at CEC would like to achieve. 

4.2 That is something that the Tram IPG needs to agree. 

4.3 T.he working assumptio11 is that CEC would like an operational t1·a1n 
fi_.om Edinburgh Ai1·port to at least St And1·ew Square for the best p1·ice 
possible and as soon as possible. 
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4.4 The1·e a1·e only two ways in whicl1 tl1at ca11 be achieved: 

4.5 

4.6 

(a) 

(b) 

1·educe the scope, 1·ebase the co11t1·act a11d lceep tl1e existit1g 
cont1·actor (''Option 1''); and 

te1·minate the co11tract and 1·ep1·ocu1·e witl1 a new cont1·acto1· 
(''Option 2''). 

111 a11y event, the i1n1nediate st1·ategy shol1ld be to fo1·ce the cont1·acto1· 
to pe1·fo1·1n the contract a11d it1cur expe11se. If that does not yield a 
1·esult by unlocking the p1·esent contractual deadlock and p1·ovidi11g us 
with a st1·onge1· position fi·om wl1icl1 to negotiate a. 1·ebasing of the 
existit1g co11tract (Optio11 1) the cont1·act would need to be te1·1ninated 
(Option 2). It is l1oped tl1at pu1·suit of the stt·ategy of enfo1·ced 
pe1·fo1·ma11ce should assist in that event, by p1·oviding fi·esh and more 
compelling gi·ounds fo1· tenninatio11 linlced to tl1e In:fi.-aco's failu1·e to 
p1·ogi·ess the wo1·ks. 

The cont1·actor at p1·esent is not talcing tie's tenninatio11 a1·gu111ents 
se1·iously and tie do 11ot appea1· to be exerting sufficient 01· credible 
p1·essu1·e on the conso1tiu1n to hold them to the contract. 

4.7 From the QC's .review of the documents .it is fair to say that the p1·oject 
rnanage1nent p1·ovided by tie to date has not been co11ducive to the 
most orderly completion of the project and a more sceptical app1·oacl1 
towards tie is needed than has been shown to date. Se1·ious 
conside1·ation should be given as to tie's ongoing involvement in the 
p1·oject. 

4.8 Tl1e p1·oposed approach is that: 

4.8.1 tie ask the conso1tium for an update i1nmediately on: 

(a) the state of the design; and 
(b) the cun·ent p1·ogra111me ie. when they will complete the 

works and other cont1·act deliverables. 

4.8.2 tie then 1·equire the consortiu1n to continue with the wo1·ks (and, 
in particular the Princes Street works). It goes without sayit1g 
that cont1·act cl1anges proposed by tie should be ke.pt to a 

• • m1111mum. 

4.8.3 in pa1·allel, McG1·igors should be 1·equ:iJ.-ed to continue witl1 the 
existing investigation into the factual 1natrix but on the 
assu1nption that the existing RTNs se1·ved to date are. too 
unspecific to provide an effective ground fo1· tennination; and 

4.8.4 if a decision is subsequently taken to tenninate the cont1·act this 
must be on the basis of frrstly, a p1·ope1· evaluation of the factual 
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5.1 

5.2 

Co11clusio11 

I11 su1n111a1·y: 

positio11 a11d seco11dly, fi.·esl1 RTNs - 111ost lilcely Iinlced to a 
failu1·e to ca1·1y out the ,vo1·lcs 1·efe1·1·ed to at (b) above. 

5 .1.1 the existing st1·ategy has been both i11consiste11t and ineffectively 
fo1·mulated and executed to date; 

5 .1.2 the 1nediatio11 in tl1e i1n1nediate te1·m is pre1natu1·e and inadvisable; 

5.1.3 the 1neeting with Infraco should p1·oceed; 

5.1.4 te11ni11atio11 should not proceed on the basis of the existing RTNs (and 
it follows that tie's proposed st1·ategy of testing the RTNs tln·ough the 
dispute 1·esolution p1·ocedu1·e in the co11tract should not be pu1·sued); 

5.1.5 perfo1·mance of the cont1·act by Infi.·aco should be enforced as set out 
above; 

5.1.6 tl1e investigation i11to tl1e factual position should be urgently fmalised; 
and 

5. 1.7 tie's ongoing position as p1·oject manager should be seriously 
1·econside1·ed. 

The legal strategy above clearly needs to be conside1·ed in the light of all othe1· 
1·elevant conside1·ations such as fmancial, PR and political. 

Head of Legal and Administrative Se1·vices 
City ofEdinbu1·gh Council 
24 Nove1nber 2010 
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